IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC05-383

NOEL DOORBAL Appellant,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MELODEE A. SMITH
FL Bar No. 33121
1010 SW 31st Street
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33315
(tel) 954.522.9297
(fax) 954.522.9298
MSmith@RestorativeJustice.US

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial a Motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850. *et seq.* Petitioner, NOEL DOORBAL ("Doorbal") was the defendant in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida. Respondent, STATE OF FLORIDA, "the State" was the plaintiff. The following symbols and citations will be used to designate references to the transcript and record in this instant cause:

Trial Transcripts - (T. page)¹

Record on Direct Appeal to this Court - (R. page)²

Post Conviction Record on Appeal - (PC-R. page)³

Supplemental Post Conviction Record on Appeal - (PC-SR. page)⁴

Volumes. The Exhibits consist of 10,690 pages in 53 Volumes.

¹ The Trial Transcript consists of 14,523 pages in 177 Volumes. Appellant requested that the Clerk provide this Court with 3 CD's filed in the Circuit Court that contain these Volumes as well as the Supplemental ROA and the Exhibits in this cause (PC-R. 586). The Supplemental ROA consists of 1,174 pages in 7

² The ROA consists of 3,956 pages in 20 Volumes.

³ The Post Conviction ROA consists of 1,206 pages in 7 Volumes.

⁴ The Post Conviction Supplemental ROA consists of 443 pages in 3 Volumes.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Doorbal has been sentenced to death. The resolution of the issues involved in this action will determine whether he lives or dies. Given the seriousness of the claims at issue and the stakes involved, Noel Doorbal, a death-sentenced inmate on Death Row at Union Correctional Institution, through counsel, respectfully requests that this Court permits oral argument on the issues raised in his appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. Procedural History

The Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Dade County, Florida, entered the judgments of conviction and sentences under review. (R. 2856-58, 3662-68). Doorbal was indicted on October 2, 1996, for conspiracy to commit racketeering, racketeering, two counts of first degree murder involving Frank Griga and Krisztina Furton, three counts of kidnapping, two counts of attempted extortion, two counts of grand theft, attempted first degree murder of Marcelo Schiller, armed robbery, burglary of a dwelling, arson, extortion and conspiracy to commit a first degree felony. (R. 61-112).

Doorbal was tried by jury from February 2, 1998 to May 5, 1998, before the Honorable Alex Ferrer. (T. 2411-16397). The State called more than ninety (90) witnesses before resting their case.

Doorbal moved for a judgment of acquittal claiming that insufficient evidence had been produced on all counts. As for the RICO count, Doorbal claimed that the State had failed to prove that a criminal enterprise had existed to commit each of the predicate acts listed in the indictment. (T. 12416-18). The trial court denied Doorbal's motion. (T. 12437). Doorbal then sought a court ruling on the admissibility of letters written by Lugo to Doorbal after their arrest. (T. 11517-72). In the letters, Lugo detailed a plan in which Doorbal was supposed to take responsibility for all of the crimes. Once Lugo was cleared, he promised Doorbal that he would then work to exonerate Doorbal. (R. 2381-82, T. 12517-21). The trial court found that the letters were hearsay. (T. 11521-22, 11555). Doorbal maintained that the letters should be admitted to demonstrate Lugo's bias against Doorbal and Lugo's effort to place blame for the crimes on Doorbal. (T. 12556-59). The court rejected Doorbal's argument and ruled the letters were inadmissible. (T. 12562, 12567-68, 12572). The trial court added that the letters would be relevant to penalty phase issues and the State agreed. (T. 12568). After entering records from Doorbal's account at Smith Barney, Doorbal renewed his motion for judgment of acquittal. (T. 12516, 12968). The court entered no ruling on Doorbal's motion.

The jury found Doorbal guilty on all counts, (T. 13680-13685), and the Court adjudicated Doorbal guilty on May 5, 1998. (T. 13695). Mr. Doorbal's penalty phase was conducted from June 1, 1998, to June 2, 1998, (T. 14380-14423), and on June 11, the jury's verdict was announced. (T. 14311-14314). The jury recommended two sentences of death with each advisory recommendation vote as 8-4. (T. 14311-14314). Following a Spencer hearing held on July 8, 1998, (T. 14320-14376), Doorbal filed a Motion to Continue Sentencing when Schiller's pre-arranged arrest on the courthouse steps by the Federal government in concert with the State's actions. (R. 3500-3501, 3505-13). The trial court denied Doorbal's Motion and sentenced Doorbal on July 17, 1998. (T. 14380-14423).

Doorbal was sentenced to death for his conviction in the first degree murder of Frank Griga, was consecutively sentenced to death for the conviction in the first degree murder of Krisztina Furton, was consecutively sentenced to: thirty years in prison for conspiracy to commit racketeering, to thirty years in prison for racketeering, to life in prison for the kidnapping of Ms. Furton, to life in prison for the kidnapping of Mr. Griga, to five years in prison for one count of attempted extortion, to five years in prison for grand theft auto, to life in prison for attempted first degree murder of Schiller, to life in prison with a three year mandatory for kidnapping with use of a firearm, to life in prison with a three year mandatory for

robbery with use of a firearm, to fifteen years in prison for burglary of a dwelling, to fifteen years in prison for grand theft in an amount of \$20,000 or more but under \$100,000, to thirty years in prison for first degree arson, to thirty years in prison for extortion with a firearm and to fifteen years in prison for conspiracy to commit first degree murder. (T. 14420).

Doorbal's Motion for New Trial was filed on July 27, 1998. (R. 3495-3499). A Notice of Appeal was filed on August 12, 1998. (R. 3659). On November 2, 1998, a Motion to Remand for an Evidentiary Hearing pending a Motion for New Trial based on Newly Discovered Evidence was filed in the Florida Supreme Court and the State filed its Response on December 17, 1998. (PC-R. 399-402, 404-411). Upon remand to the trial court, Mr. Doorbal's Motion for a Richardson hearing and for a New Trial was denied following a hearing held on January 13, 1999. (T. 3912-3954). A Notice of Appeal was filed on January 13, 1999. (R. 3781).

⁵ Doorbal's trial Judge, the Honorable Alexander Ferrer, just three weeks after the trial Court denied Doorbal's Motion for a New Trial, testified at Marcello Schiller's Federal sentencing hearing conducted on February 5, 1999, (PC-R. 269-283). Judge Ferrer testified on Schiller's behalf to support Schiller's request for minimum sentencing after he pled guilty to Medicare fraud. (PC-R. 275-283).

On Direct Appeal, Doorbal's Appellant counsel raised the following claims before this Court:

- I. Doorbal was denied a fair trial when the State improperly elicited irrelevant testimony relating to "bad character" evidence at a time when Doorbal had not placed his character as an issue. The Florida Supreme Court, forced to analyze the testimony under the "fundamental error doctrine" because trial counsel failed to contemporaneously object to any of the highly prejudicial statements, determined that relief was not warranted based on fundamental error.
- II. Doorbal was denied a fair trial when the State commented in its closing argument upon Doorbal's decision to exercise his right to remain silent. The Florida Supreme Court, forced to review this reversible error under the "fundamental error doctrine" because trial counsel failed to contemporaneously object or motion for a mistrial, determined that relief was not warranted based on fundamental error but noted its position regarding this form of prosecutorial misconduct.
- III. Doorbal was denied a fair trial when the State improperly used the "Golden Rule" argument to the jury during the guilt phase of the trial.

 The Florida Supreme Court, forced to review the reversible error under the "fundamental error doctrine" because trial counsel failed to

- contemporaneously object, determined that the State committed error, "walking the edge of reversible error," that needlessly violated the prohibition against "Golden Rule" arguments, but did not warrant relief based on fundamental error.
- IV. Doorbal was denied a fair trial when the Court denied a motion to suppress illegally seized evidence used at trial. The Florida Supreme Court concluded that a "common sense" determination that there was a probability of evidence related to crimes and the denial of the motion did not entitle Doorbal to relief.
- V. Doorbal was denied a fair trial when the Court limited the presentation of mitigating evidence. The Florida Supreme Court concluded that if there was any error committed by the Court in not admitting letters from co-defendant Dan Lugo as mitigating evidence showing that Lugo had a dominating influence over Doorbal "in the context in which it was proffered," such error was harmless and Doorbal was not entitled to relief.
- VI. Doorbal was denied a fair trial when the State improperly used the "Golden Rule" argument to the jury during the penalty phase of the trial and when the State implored the jury to show Doorbal no mercy.

 The Florida Supreme Court, forced to review the reversible error

under the "fundamental error doctrine" because trial counsel failed to contemporaneously object, determined that the State committed error while treading dangerous ground, but did not warrant relief based on fundamental error.

- VII. Doorbal was denied a fair trial when the Court improperly considered and weighed the use of felony murder and pecuniary gain aggravating circumstances. The Florida Supreme Court ruled that improper doubling did not occur and Doorbal was not entitled to relief on this issue.
- VIII. Doorbal was denied a fair trial when the Court improperly considered and weighed the use of cold, calculated and premeditated and avoiding arrest aggravating circumstances. The Florida Supreme Court ruled that improper doubling did not occur, denying relief on this issue.
- IX. Doorbal was denied a fair trial when the Court found that the cold, calculating and premeditated aggravating circumstance exists due to insufficient evidence. The Florida Supreme Court denied relief for Doorbal.
- X. Doorbal was denied a fair trial when the Court found that the avoiding arrest aggravating circumstance exists due to insufficient evidence.

The Florida Supreme Court concluded that Doorbal's claim does not warrant relief.

XI. Doorbal, on rehearing, challenged Florida's capital sentencing scheme as unconstitutional in lieu of Ring v. Arizona, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002).
 The Florida Supreme Court rejected the argument and denied Doorbal relief.

In addition, although not specifically challenged, the Florida Supreme Court reviewed the proportionality of Doorbal's sentences to death and concluded Doorbal was not entitled to relief on this issue.

The Florida Supreme Court affirmed Doorbal's convictions and sentences, including his sentences of death, but withdrew its opinion. <u>Doorbal v. State</u>, 2002 WL 31259825, 27 Fl. Law Weekly S839 (Fla. Oct. 10, 2002). Upon Rehearing, the Florida Supreme Court superceded its opinion and denied Doorbal relief. <u>Doorbal v. State</u>, 837 So.2nd 940, 28 Fla. Law Weekly S108 (Fla. Jan 30, 2003) (NO. SC93988).

The U.S. Supreme Court denied Certiorari on June 27, 2003. <u>Doorbal v. Florida</u>, 123 S.Ct. 2647, 156 L.Ed.2d 663, 71 USLW 3799 (U.S. Fla. June 27, 2003) (NO. 02-10379).

B. Statement of the Facts at Trial

Mr. Doorbal's trial proceeding was conducted with co-defendants John Mese and Daniel Lugo in a consolidated case where two juries heard testimony from more than ninety (90) witnesses involving three of the twelve co-defendants charged. At trial, co-defendant Jorge Delgado testified that he met Marcelo Schiller through his wife, who had been working for co-defendant Schiller at Schiller's accounting firm. (T. 11597-98). Delgado later went to work for Schiller and developed a close friendship with him. (T. 11599). As a result of that friendship, Schiller confided in Delgado and provided him with a great deal of personal information. (T. 11601). Delgado admitted that he and Schiller had been involved in hundreds of instances of Medicare fraud. (T. 12031-33). Delgado also acknowledged he was the subject of a federal investigation into those fraudulent activities. (T. 11862). Schiller and Delgado ran Schiller's medical supply business as a front for Medicare fraud. (T. 11637, 11642-43). The unlawful Medicare business was quite lucrative, and Delgado alone, made in excess of \$300,000 in 1992. (T. 11891).

In 1992, Delgado joined Sun Gym and met both co-defendant Daniel Lugo and Doorbal. (T. 11638, 11640). Delgado became very friendly with Lugo and entered into a joint business venture with him. (T. 11645, 11648). When Delgado introduced Lugo to Schiller, Schiller expressed disapproval of Lugo. Delgado

testified that Schiller would not do business with Lugo, and Delgado would have to choose between them. (T. 11644-45). Nevertheless, Lugo became involved in the unlawful billing of the Medicare business, and, according to Delgado, subsequently informed Delgado that Schiller was a cheating Delgado out of significant unlawful gains. (T. 11647, 11651). Delgado testified that Lugo learned that Schiller owed Delgado \$200,000. (T. 11661). When Schiller rejected Delgado's request for the money, Delgado testified that it was Lugo who suggested that they kidnap Schiller to force him to get the money back. (T. 11652-53).

In October 1994, according to Delgado, a meeting was conducted in Lugo's office with Delgado, Doorbal, cod-defendant Carl Weekes and co-defendant Stevenson Pierre where Lugo announced that they would try to capture Schiller and get their money back. (T. 11657). Lugo led the meeting, according to Delgado, and Delgado testified that it was his job to provide information about Schiller and then watch him once he was captured. Weekes and Pierre were asked to help. Delgado testified that Doorbal's job was to help with Schiller's capture and get him to talk by roughing him up, if necessary. (T. 11657-58, 11662-63). Delgado testified that the participants agreed that Schiller would be kept at a warehouse that had been previously rented by Delgado. (T. 6459-69, 11664).

According to Delgado, in preparation for the kidnapping, Lugo purchased a taser gun, a mask, rope, handcuffs and duct tape. (T. 11666-67). The men then

endeavored to abduct Schiller by staging a car accident, by snatching him out of his home and by forcibly taking him at his place of business, Schlotzky's Deli. (T. 8858-8891). Delgado testified that while earlier attempts failed, Schiller was abducted outside Schlotzky's Deli. (T. 7327, 8498).

Schiller testified that he beft Schlotzky's Deli and walked to his Toyota 4-Runner parked in the lot at the rear of the restaurant. (T. 7325-26). Schiller saw some men approach, although he did not get a good look at them. (T. 7327). As the men grabbed for Schiller, Weekes shot Schiller with a taser several times. (T. 7327, 8497). While Schiller struggled to resist, co-defendant Sanchez grabbed Schiller and forced him into a waiting van. (T. 8498). As they drove away from the scene, Weekes struck Schiller several times, handcuffed him and threatened to kill Schiller if Schiller did not remain quiet. (T. 8499). Weekes taped Schiller's eyes and both Weekes and Sanchez struck Schiller several times. (T. 7328, 8500-05). Weekes removed Schiller's jewelry and gave it to Doorbal. (T. 8505). Pierre and Lugo met Doorbal, Sanchez, Weekes and Schiller at Delgado's warehouse. (T. 8527). Schiller was punched, kicked, burned with a cigarette butt and struck with a gun. (T. 7329-33, 8897, 11670). As Schiller was beaten, the men demanded a list of Schiller's assets, surprising Schiller that noted that the men had accurate information about some of his holdings. (T. 7333-34).

Based on the information his captors had, Schiller assumed that Delgado was involved. (T. 7340-41). Schiller also recognized Lugo's voice. (T. 7336). The men threatened harm to Schiller's wife and children, but Schiller told his captors that they could have what they wanted if they allowed his wife and children to leave the country. (T. 7338-39). With the information provided by Schiller, Delgado testified that Lugo and Doorbal went to Schiller's home and removed his safe and several personal items. (T. 8912, 11675). The money from the safe, approximately \$10,000, was split between Doorbal, Pierre and Weekes, according to Pierre. (T. 8912). During the next several days, Schiller was required to call his bankers and sign several documents. (T. 7351-53). Included among the documents was a deed to Schiller's home, which was conveyed to D & J International, a corporation formed by Lugo and co-defendant John Mese. (T. 8913, 11676-77). The deed and a change of beneficiary form for Schiller's life insurance policies were taken to Mese for notarization. (T. 8916-17, 11680).6

⁶ Sharon Farugia, an employee of Met Life, testified that in November 1994, Schiller had 2 life insurance policies worth \$1,000,000 each. The original beneficiary on the policies was his Schiller's wife, Diana Schiller. (R.6856-60). A change of beneficiary form was executed changing the beneficiary on the policies to Lillian Torres, "fiancée." In fact, Lillian Torres was Lugo's ex-wife. (R.6861-63, 8204, 8211). There was a mark for a signature and John Mese notarized the

Schiller was also required to sign a confession admitting to Medicare fraud, although Schiller denied that he was ever involved in any such activity. (T. 7354-55). Additionally, Schiller was required to marshal his assets from several offshore accounts. Checks totaling \$1,260,000 were then signed by Schiller and deposited in the corporate account of a company named Sun Fitness. (T. 7484-85, 11680-81). According to Delgado, the proceeds would be shared among Lugo, Doorbal, Pierre, Weekes, Delgado and Mese. (T. 11682). Finally, his captors told Schiller that he should call Gene Rosen and tell him to grant Delgado power of attorney over Schlotzky's Deli. (T. 7367). Delgado testified that Lugo told signature. (R.6862). Gene Rosen, Schiller's attorney, later notified Met Life that the change of beneficiary should be voided and the beneficiary should be Diana Schiller. (R.6863, 6887). Also, Camilo Blanco, a principal in the construction of La Gorce Palace, a 34-story condominium on Miami Beach, testified Schiller and his wife purchased a condominium before construction. (R.6904-06). Blanco received a written assignment of Schiller's contract on the condo which purported to assign Schiller's interest to Lillian Torres. The assignment had been signed by Schiller and notarized by Mese. It was accompanied by a check for \$2,400 written on Schiller's account. (R.6909-14). Blanco was unable to contact Torres. (R.6911). Gene Rosen, however, later contacted Blanco and informed him that the assignment should be voided. (R.6918).

Delgado that the plan was to get Schiller drunk and have him burn in a staged car accident. (T. 11686). Lugo aimed Schiller's vehicle at a metal pole, with an intoxicated Schiller sitting in the front seat of the car. (T. 8919- 21). Lugo doused the car with gasoline and ignited it. (T. 8922). Because they had forgotten to place a seat belt on Schiller, however, he was able to escape. (T. 8923). Weekes hit and ran Schiller over twice. (T. 89223, 11688).

When police found Schiller, they believed that he had been involved in a car accident while driving drunk, and he was transported to Jackson Memorial Hospital. (T. 8920, 11688). Pierre testified that when Lugo and Delgado realized that Schiller might not be dead, he went with Lugo, Weekes and Doorbal to the hospital looking for Schiller, but a guard was stationed outside Schiller's door. (T. 8926-27, 11689-11690). Schiller suffered major injuries from his abduction. (T. 6968-69, 7375-77). While hospitalized, he informed his doctor what had happened and told his attorney, Gene Rosen. (T. 7378, 7594-96). Schiller testified that despite the reports, no police officer responded to the hospital to investigate the abduction. (T. 7596). On his lawyer's advice, Schiller fled the hospital and went to New York to assure his safety. (T. 7379, 7769).

In January 1995, Schiller hired private investigator Ed Dubois to try to regain his money and property. (T. 7385-86). Based on a memorandum written by Schiller, Dubois contacted John Mese (T. 7776) and met with Mese in February

1995, telling Mese that he represented Schiller. (T. 7781-84). Mese admitted that he knew Delgado and Lugo, but denied any knowledge of Schiller's abduction. (T. 7783-87). Mese did not deny that he had notarized Schiller's documents, but claimed that he did not recognize Schiller's name because he frequently notarizes documents. (T. 7783-86).

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