# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-383

NOEL DOORBAL,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

# BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5655

#

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

# III. THE LOWER COURT'S ORDER SUMMARILY DENYING CLAIMS THAT WERE PROCEDURALLY BARRED, FACIALLY INSUFFICIENT AND WITHOUT MERIT AS A MATTER OF LAW WAS PROPER.

Defendant next asserts the lower court erred in denying 20 of his claims for post conviction relief summarily. While Defendant does not even identify the claims with specificity or assert why the claims required evidentiary development, he does appear to argue that the summary denial was inappropriate because the lower court did not explain its rationale or attach portions of the record. However, the lower court's order does explain why the claims were denied, and these reasons were proper. As such, Defendant is entitled to no relief.

In Anderson v. State, 627 So. 2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993), this Court stated that a trial court's order summarily denying a claim would be deemed proper if the trial court either attached portions of the record or explained its rationale for denying a claim. Based on this holding, this Court had held that a summary denial can be upheld even where a trial court did not attach portions of the record if the lower court has "clearly spelled out" the reason for the denial in its order. Patton v. State, 784 So. 2d 380, 388 (Fla. 2000). Moreover, this Court has affirmed the summary denial of claims presented in a motion filed after the amendment to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851, when the claims presented were procedurally barred or insufficiently plead even over the defendant's claim that an evidentiary hearing was necessary. Bryant v. State, 901 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 2005).

Here, the lower court's order complied with these requirements. The lower court explained that it was denying Claims I and II, which challenged the constitutionality of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 & 3.852, because this Court had already rejected these claims. (PCR. 783) It stated that Claim III, regarding disclosure of public records, Claim VIII and IX, regarding general allegations of ineffective assistance at the guilt phase, and Claim XII, concerning ineffective assistance

for failing to investigate and present mitigation, were facially insufficient. Id. It denied Claim IV, concerning Brady/Giglio violations regarding Schiller's involvement medicare fraud, were procedurally barred and refuted by the record. Id. It found that Claim V was merely repetitious of claims raised elsewhere in the motion. Id. It found that Claim VI, regarding the failure to object to issues that this Court had rejected on direct appeal, did not present a sufficient claim for relief. Id. It found that Defendant lack standing to raise the Vienna Convention claim (Claim XIII), and that the claim was procedurally barred. Id. It found that Claim X, regarding the exclusion of Lugo's letters to Defendant, was procedurally barred and facially insufficient. Id. It found that claims that Florida capital the sentencing scheme is unconstitutional and violates Ring, Claims XIV and XV, and the lethal injection claim, Claim XVII, were without merit as a matter of law. (PCR. 784) The burden shifting claim (Claim XVI), the severance claim (Claim XVIII), and the claim regarding sympathy and mercy (Claim XXI) were all procedurally barred and without merit. Id. The jury interview claim (Claim XX) was rejected as procedurally barred and insufficiently pled. Id. Claim XIX, alleging trial court error, was found to procedurally barred. Id. Finally, the lower court determined that the cumulative error claim (Claim VII) was insufficiently pled and without merit. (PCR. 783)

Thus, the lower court's order does explain the reasons for summarily denying the claims that were summarily denied. It complies with *Anderson* and *Patton*. Defendant's assertion to the contrary should be rejected.

To the extent that Defendant is attempting to claim that any of these individual reasons were improper for the rejection of any of the particular claims, he is entitled to no relief. In presenting this issue, Defendant does not attempt to explain why any of the reasons provided for summarily denying his claims was wrong. Instead, Defendant merely recites that he elected to file a motion for post conviction relief within a year after his convictions and sentences became final because he did not wish to violate the federal habeas statute of limitations and that he then "attempted to investigate and clarify" the issues presented. Defendant then generally discusses law regarding summary denials and claims the order is insufficient.

However, this Court has made clear that the "purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal." Duest v. State, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990). Thus, this Court has required defendants to present arguments that explain why the lower court erred in its rulings. See Shere

v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 217 n.6 (Fla. 1999). Merely referring to the arguments presented below is insufficient to meet the burden of presenting an argument on appeal. Duest, 555 So. 2d at 852. Moreover, the arguments must be presented in more than a cursory fashion. Bryant v. State, 901 So. 2d 810, 827-28 (Fla. 2005); Cooper v. State, 856 So. 2d 969, 977 n.7 (Fla. 2003); Reeves v. Crosby, 837 So. 2d 396, 398 (Fla. 2003); Lawrence v. State, 831 So. 2d 121, 133 (Fla. 2002). When an issue is not sufficiently briefed, it is considered waived. Bryant, 901 So. 2d at 827-28; Duest, 555 So. 2d at 852. Since Defendant has not presented any argument regarding why the lower court improperly denied these claims, they are waived.

Even if Defendant had not waived all of these issues by failing to properly brief them, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. The record and the law fully support the lower court's denial of each of these claims. This Court has repeatedly rejected challenges to the constitutionality of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851. Vining v. State, 827 So. 2d 201, 215 (Fla. 2002); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909, 919 (Fla. 2000). This Court rejected Defendant's challenge to the constitutionality of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852 when it adopted that rule. In re: Amendments to Fla. R. Crim. P. - Capital Postconviction Public Record Production, 683 So. 2d 475, 475-76 (Fla. 1996). Thus, the

rejections of Claims I and II were proper. The lower court should be affirmed.

This Court has held that to state a facially sufficient claim of denial of public records production, a defendant must identify the specific agencies that have not complied, and where an agency has provided records, identify with specificity the documents that have not been produced. Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, 659 (Fla. 2000). Here, Defendant's motion for post conviction relief did not comply with these requirements, and Defendant admitted at the Huff hearing that he could not met these requirements. (PCR. 192-95, 964-68) Thus, the determination that Claim III was facially insufficient was proper.

The denial of Claim IV was addressed in Issue II. For the reasons asserted under that issue, the denial was proper and should be affirmed.

Claim V asserted that the case was a financial burden on counsel and that counsel had personal problems during the pendency of the case. (PCR. 206-11) However, as this Court has recognized a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel focuses on what counsel did or failed to do and how those actions or inactions prejudiced the defendant and not why counsel did or failed to do anything. Bryan v. State, 753 So. 2d 1244 (Fla.

2000). As the allegedly deficient actions or inactions of counsel were raised and addressed elsewhere in the motion, the lower court properly determined that this alleged explanation added nothing to the motion and denied it.

Further, while Defendant mentioned a conflict of interest under this claim, it was still properly denied. In Mickens v. Taylor, 535 U.S. 162, 174-76 (2002), the Court made clear that it had never apply the special standard of review for claims of conflict of interests to any conflicts but those resulting from multiple concurrent representation of defendants and that logically the special rule did not apply to other alleged conflicts. See also Knight v. State, 923 So. 2d 387, 392 n.9, 403, 417 (Fla. 2005). The Court reasoned that applying the special conflict of interest standard to other conflicts would allow application of the special rule to supplant Strickland. Here, Defendant did not assert a conflict of interest based on dual representation. As such, the lower court properly rejected the claim.

In Claim VI, Defendant complained that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the allegedly improper admission of character evidence and to allegedly improper comments during the State's guilt phase closing argument. (PCR. 212-16) However, these issues had been raised and rejected on

direct appeal because any error in the admission of the evidence or the comments was not fundamental. *Doorbal*, 837 So. 2d at 954-58. In *Chandler v. State*, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1046 (Fla. 2003), this Court held that a defendant could not show prejudice, where the issue underlying the claim had been rejected on direct appeal and this Court had found no fundamental error. Thus, the lower court properly rejected this claim under *Chandler*. 11

Claims VIII and IX generally alleged that trial counsel was ineffective during the guilt phase for failing to present evidence of Schiller's involvement in medicare fraud, for not presenting any witnesses and for failing to impeach Delgado. (PCR. 218-23) However, Defendant did not assert what evidence was available or admissible. Id. He did not name any witnesses or state what these unnamed witnesses would have offered. Id. Having not identified any evidence, any witnesses or the substance of any proposed testimony, Defendant, of course, did not explain how any of this unidentified information would create a reasonable probability of a different result at trial. Instead, Defendant merely asserted in conclusory terms that he was prejudiced. When pressed repeatedly for specifics at the

Moreover, this Court has repeatedly held that such attempts to relitigate claims under the guise of ineffective assistance to be procedurally barred. *Cherry v. State*, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995); *Harvey v. Dugger*, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995); *Medina v. State*, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990); *Swafford v. Dugger*, 569 So. 2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990).

Huff hearing, the only thing that Defendant offered was that his ex-wife and codefendant Cynthia Elledge could testify regarding a "timeline." (PCR. 984-1001) Defendant refused to explain what the timeline was or how testimony about it would have affected the outcome of trial, given that the planning of began in September 1994 and the crimes were not completed until the end of May 1995. Id.

However, this Court has held that conclusory allegations are insufficient to require an evidentiary hearing. Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998). In Nelson v. State, 875 So. 2d 579 (Fla. 2004), this Court also required that a defendant claiming that counsel was ineffective for failing to present witnesses at trial must identify the witnesses, provide the substance of their testimony, explain how that testimony would have affected the outcome of the trial and state that the witnesses would have been available to testify at the time of trial. Since Defendant failed to do any of these things, the claims were properly denied as facially insufficient. 12

Moreover, Delgado was impeached with his plea agreements, his involvement in Medicare fraud and his earnings from that involvement. (T. 11643, 11860-62, 11880-81, 118898-118907, 11918-22, 12021-22, 12024, 12030-31,12033-34, 12037-41, 12051, 12124-26, 12141-47) Evidence of Schiller's specific acts of misconduct would not have been admissible. Dupont v. State, 556 So. 2d 457, 458 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990)(extrinsic evidence not admissible to impeach a witness on a collateral issue); Fulton

Claim X asserted that counsel was ineffective for failing to convince the trial court to admit the letters Lugo had written to him. However, the record reflects that counsel attempted to admit the letter at both the guilt and penalty phase. (T. 12516-74, 13780-13800, 13847-52, 14143-60) On direct appeal, this Court rejected the claim that the exclusion of the letters provided grounds for reversal. Doorbal, 837 So. 2d at 959. As such, Defendant was merely attempting to relitigate the issue in the guise of a claim of ineffective assistance, and the lower court properly found the claim barred. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995); Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990); Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So. 2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990).

Further, in raising this claim, Defendant did not attempt to explain what counsel could have done to convince the lower court to admit the letters or how the failure to do so created a reasonable probability of a different result. (PCR. 223-25) Instead, Defendant merely made conclusory allegations that counsel should have convinced the lower court to admit the letters and that he was prejudiced as a result. However, such conclusory allegations are insufficient to state a basis for relief. Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998). The

 $v.\ State$ , 335 So. 2d 280 (Fla. 1976)(specific acts of misconduct by a witness are not admissible to impeach).

denial of the claim should be affirmed.

In Claim XII, Defendant asserted that his counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate mitigation. (PCR. 229-32) However, other than asserting that counsel should investigated Defendant's mental state because steroids, Defendant did not assert what counsel failed to investigate, what would have been found had counsel conducted an investigation or how the finding and presentations of this unspecified information would have created a reasonable probability of a different result. 13 When the lower court attempted to get Defendant to assert what the allegedly undiscovered mitigation was, Defendant asserted it was that Defendant failed in school, 14 left school at 15, was born to a 13 year old and lived in a shack. (PCR. 1011) When the State pointed out that Defendant had presented this evidence at the penalty phase, Defendant insisted there were more family members

The record reflects that counsel did have Defendant's mental health evaluated and did investigate the effects of Defendant's steroid use. (R. 1721-24, PCR-SR. 210-11, 261-65) Counsel also spoke to Defendant's family and school teachers, sent an investigator to Trinidad and investigated Defendant's social background. (T. 1557-58, R. 1609-14, PCR-SR. 212-17, 222-38) In fact, the State even provided Defendant's school records in discovery. (R. 1549)

The IQ test given to Defendant pretrial showed that his full scale IQ was 100. (PCR-SR. 262) The school records noted that Defendant was the "most disruptive student deserving of the worst conduct marks possible" and an "extremely difficult student who deliberately to set out to disrupt good order in the school." (PCR. 193, 194)

who could have testified to these same areas and Defendant's grandmother could have been impeached about her employment. (PCR. 1012-13) However, this Court has held that a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to investigate and present mitigation is facially insufficient when it does not assert what counsel failed to investigate, what mitigation could have been found or how the failure to present that evidence created a reasonable probability of a different result. Vining v. State, 827 So. 2d 201, 212 (Fla. 2002). This Court has also held that counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to present cumulative evidence. Holland v. State, 916 So. 2d 750, 757 (Fla. 2005); Gorby v. State, 819 So. 2d 664, 675 (Fla. 2002); Valle v. State, 705 So. 2d 1331, 1334-35 (Fla. 1997). As the claim was insufficient in the motion and the evidence mentioned at the Huff hearing was cumulative, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim.

In Maharaj v. State, 778 So. 2d 944, 959 (Fla. 2000), this Court rejected a claim that a defendant was entitled to post conviction relief because the State had failed to comply with the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations because the claim was barred and the defendant lacked standing. The United States Supreme Court had recently stated that it is proper for states to bar Vienna Convention Claims. Sanchez-Llamas v. Oregon, 126

S. Ct. 2669 (2006). Thus, the lower court properly determined that Claim XIII was procedurally barred and Defendant lacked standing to raise it.

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